## **Evidence Paper**

DATE: January 2016



# EGGS AND THE HEART

This paper summarises the evidence which forms the basis of the Heart Foundation's position on eggs and heart health

## CONTENTS

Contents1
Abbreviations2
Background
Introduction
Other organisations recommendations4
New Zealand context5
Considerations when interpreting studies on eggs5
Dietary context and confounders5
Cholesterol absorption and synthesis
Cholesterol type
Genetic factors and hypo/hyper responders7
Special populations
TMAO and choline
Other9
Evidence overview: Epidemiological research on eggs and risk of heart disease
Evidence overview: Intervention studies on eggs and risk factors 11
Blood cholesterol
Endothelial function
Summary14
Evidence Table 1: Meta-analyses of epidemiological studies on eggs and heart disease risk
Evidence Table 2: Intervention studies on eggs and heart disease risk factors
References

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

CHD	Coronary heart disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
HDL	High density lipoprotein cholesterol
HR	Hazard ratio
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease
LDL	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
MI	Myocardial infarction
P:S	Polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RR	Relative risk
тс	Total cholesterol
TC:HDL	Total cholesterol to HDL cholesterol ratio
TG	Triglycerides
TMAO	Trimethylamine-N-oxide
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein cholesterol

## BACKGROUND

Cholesterol is a waxy substance that is a type of lipid. It forms part of cell membranes and is used in the formation of brain cells, nerve cells, bile acids, preformed Vitamin D and hormones. While some cholesterol in our body is essential, the type and amount of cholesterol in our blood correlates with risk of heart disease.

There are two sources of cholesterol in our bodies. The main source is endogenous cholesterol made in our bodies or recycled by the liver. The type and amount of cholesterol our body makes is influenced by the food we eat. This is our 'blood cholesterol', for example LDLcholesterol and HDL-cholesterol. This cholesterol is packaged up in lipoproteins that act as transporters around the body. The second source is 'dietary cholesterol' from eating animal products that already contain cholesterol. These two forms of cholesterol need to be kept distinct.

This umbrella review assesses the impact of dietary cholesterol from the food we eat, especially from eggs, and updates the earlier Heart Foundation position paper from 1999. It considers whether recommendations should continue to be made to limit dietary cholesterol from eggs for people at high risk of heart disease. Systematic reviews, meta-analyses and recent RCTs assessing the impact of eggs on heart disease or risk factors are included.

#### INTRODUCTION

Egg yolks are high in cholesterol and are a major source of dietary cholesterol. The New Zealand Heart Foundation has previously recommended that people at high risk of heart disease limit egg intake to three eggs (yolks) per week. Whilst its original (1999) evidence paper found dietary cholesterol had little effect on blood cholesterol levels and risk of heart disease, there were two main reasons for continuing the advice to limit egg intake:

 Dietary cholesterol may contribute to a small increase in lipids in susceptible people, for example those with combined hyperlipidaemia. Dietary cholesterol has little impact on blood cholesterol levels within the context of a diet lower in saturated fat. However, dietary cholesterol and saturated fat act synergistically. It was thought that intakes of dietary cholesterol higher than 300mg/day were a more important determinant of total and LDL cholesterol when saturated fats accounted for more than 15% of total energy intake.<sup>1</sup> Average saturated fat intakes at the time were high enough to consider it prudent to advise limiting eggs for people at high risk of heart disease.

It should be noted that these recommendations were not for the general healthy population, for whom no recommendations have been made by the NZ Heart Foundation around limiting egg intake.

#### **OTHER ORGANISATIONS RECOMMENDATIONS**

Since the original Heart Foundation position paper was published, most organisations around the world have liberalised their advice on eggs. The Australian Heart Foundation now recommend up to six eggs per week as part of a balanced diet for people with heart disease, and the British Heart Foundation removed restrictions on egg intake.

In the United States, the draft 2015 USDA dietary guidelines are in line with recent American Heart Association recommendations and state:

Previously, the Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommended that cholesterol intake be limited to no more than 300 mg/day. The 2015 DGAC will not bring forward this recommendation because available evidence shows no appreciable relationship between consumption of dietary cholesterol and serum cholesterol, consistent with the conclusions of the AHA/ACC report.<sup>2</sup>

The latest American Heart Association and American College of Cardiologists position is that "there is insufficient evidence to determine whether lowering dietary cholesterol reduces LDLcholesterol".<sup>3</sup> They were unable to identify a good quality systematic review or meta-analysis that met their inclusion criteria, thus leading to a rating of insufficient evidence.

### **NEW ZEALAND CONTEXT**

The Adult Nutrition Survey 2008/09 found usual median daily intakes of dietary cholesterol were 316mg for males and 219mg for females. Intakes were higher for Māori and Pacific peoples, with no difference by level of socio-economic deprivation.<sup>4</sup>

Eggs and egg dishes contributed 13% of dietary cholesterol, poultry 12%, beef and veal 9%, milk 8%, fish and seafood 8%, bread-based dishes 7% and pork 5%. A medium-sized egg contains around 202mg of dietary cholesterol.

Saturated fatty acids have a greater effect on blood cholesterol levels than dietary cholesterol, and their intake was on average 36.5g per day for males and 25.8g per day for females. This equated to 13.1% of daily energy intake. Intakes were higher than average for Māori, but similar for Pacific peoples.

Apart from their dietary cholesterol content, eggs are an inexpensive source of protein and other nutrients such as carotenoids, vitamin D, B12, selenium and choline.

The Ministry of Health's Eating and Activity Guidelines for adults do not give any specific recommendations around limiting egg intake.

## CONSIDERATIONS WHEN INTERPRETING STUDIES ON EGGS

#### DIETARY CONTEXT AND CONFOUNDERS

 The dietary context in studies is often not well defined, and the surrounding diet could moderate the influence of eggs. For example, if the background diet is high or low in dietary cholesterol, saturated fat,<sup>5</sup> or fibre.<sup>6,7</sup> If the background diet is unhealthy, then consumption of eggs may do little to alter disease risk.

- It is difficult to discern the effect of dietary cholesterol from that of dietary fat as they are typically found in the same foods.<sup>6</sup>
- Dietary cholesterol has a smaller influence on LDL cholesterol when saturated fat intake is low (or the P:S ratio is high). It has been estimated adding 100mg of dietary cholesterol (half an egg) to a diet high in saturated fat would increase LDL by 0.06mmol/L compared to 0.04mmol/L for a diet low in saturated fat.<sup>5</sup>
- In cohort studies, especially earlier studies, adjustments were often not made for potential confounders.<sup>8,9</sup> Saturated fat intakes often increase alongside dietary cholesterol, and diets higher in animal products may be lower in fruit and vegetables. Eggs are often eaten as part of a cooked breakfast with foods such as bacon, sausages or white bread with butter, all of which could affect blood cholesterol levels and heart disease risk. There are also lifestyle factors that may be more common in people who eat a greater number of eggs that could influence risk, such as smoking (in men) or low levels of physical activity.<sup>10-12</sup>
- There is a level of measurement error in dietary assessment. Cohort studies mainly used self-reported intake, food questionnaires seldom collect detailed information on eggs, there is often no way of differentiating between egg white and egg yolk intake, or accounting for eggs in food or mixed dishes.<sup>13</sup>

#### CHOLESTEROL ABSORPTION AND SYNTHESIS

- The body adjusts its absorption and production of cholesterol to try and maintain a stable pool of cholesterol in the body.<sup>6</sup>
- If dietary intake of cholesterol is moderate to high, absorption and production of cholesterol is reduced. Thus, LDL-cholesterol is more sensitive to low rather than high intakes of dietary cholesterol.<sup>6</sup>
- Furthermore, increases in dietary cholesterol might increase cholesterol removal from the body through the reverse cholesterol transport pathway.<sup>14-16</sup>
- The cholesterol raising effect of eggs is strongest at cholesterol intakes of less than 400mg/day.<sup>17</sup>

- If dietary intake of cholesterol is low, the body increases production and absorption.<sup>6</sup>
- Dietary restriction and increased meal frequency have been found to reduce cholesterol synthesis.<sup>6</sup>

#### **BLOOD CHOLESTEROL TYPE**

- A high egg intake can increase LDL cholesterol but it also increases HDL cholesterol, and therefore may have only a small effect on the TC:HDL ratio.<sup>5,16-18,19,20</sup> However, HDL may not increase as much as LDL so the overall effect could still be adverse, although this is not consistent between studies.<sup>4,15,21</sup> A meta-analysis estimated the equivalent of an egg a day would increase the TC:HDL ratio by 0.04 units, increasing risk of myocardial infarction by 2.1%.<sup>5</sup>
- Egg consumption may increase formation of large buoyant LDL, which has been associated with being less atherogenic than small dense LDL, although both are still considered atherogenic to some degree.<sup>16,19,20,22,23</sup> Some of these studies were also in a carbohydrate restricted diet which could influence results.
- Spence contends that fasting lipid measurements conceal the true effect on the endothelium as so much of our time is spent in the post-prandial state. Cholesterol peaks after six to eight hours, whereas studies often measure fasting levels.<sup>24,25</sup>

#### GENETIC FACTORS AND HYPO/HYPER RESPONDERS

- There are large differences in cholesterol absorption between people, and differences by age and sex. Absorption of cholesterol can range from 20% to 80% in healthy subjects on a moderately low-cholesterol diet, and increases with aging.<sup>6</sup>
- Some people have a greater response to dietary cholesterol intake (hyper-responders) whilst others have little response (hyporesponders) to dietary cholesterol.<sup>14,15</sup> Some of this difference may be due to intra-individual fluctuations, rather than differing response levels.<sup>26</sup>
- Up to one-quarter of the population are considered hyperresponders to dietary cholesterol because their cholesterol levels

increase more acutely than non-responders, with up to a three-fold difference in effect.<sup>21</sup>

- Genetic factors such as presence of certain alleles and phenotypes can increase sensitivity to dietary cholesterol.<sup>6 27</sup>
- However, even in hyper-responders, both LDL and HDL cholesterol increase and the effect on the TC:HDL ratio may not be statistically significant.<sup>14,15</sup> In contrast, Weggemans calculated that the rise in HDL was not sufficient to compensate for the rise in LDL cholesterol (see Evidence Table 2).<sup>5</sup>

#### SPECIAL POPULATIONS

- At high intakes, people with insulin resistance could be less sensitive to egg-induced increases in LDL and HDL cholesterol than those who are insulin sensitive,<sup>17</sup> potentially due to reduced cholesterol absorption.<sup>28</sup> Cholesterol synthesis is increased and absorption decreased in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, and this is independent of obesity.<sup>29</sup>
- Obesity and overweight may increase rate of cholesterol synthesis.<sup>6</sup>
- Dietary cholesterol and egg intake have been associated with increased CVD risk in people with type 2 diabetes in most studies that have assessed them. Results are inconsistent in relation to whether higher egg intakes increase risk of getting type 2 diabetes in the first place.<sup>9</sup>
- Studies of populations already experiencing some form of heart disease or at high risk of heart disease are likely to be on medication, which will reduce their risk of experiencing heart disease outcomes, and may partially disguise beneficial effects of dietary effects.

### TMAO AND CHOLINE

 Eggs are a good source of the B-vitamin choline, an essential nutrient for foetal development. Preliminary research suggests that microbes can metabolise choline to TMAO (trimethylamine-Noxide).<sup>30</sup> High levels of TMAO in the plasma have been associated with CVD in humans in epidemiological studies, and animal studies suggest this is due to direct involvement in the atherosclerotic process, rather than acting as a biomarker.<sup>31,33</sup> Studies have shown increased formation of TMAO with consumption of two or more eggs in a meal.<sup>30,32,33</sup> On the contrary, choline deficiency has also been linked to atherosclerosis.<sup>34</sup> Further research is required to confirm the findings and determine their full implications.

#### OTHER

- There is a very small amount of mechanistic data that implies dietary cholesterol could be involved in the inflammatory response and atherosclerosis.<sup>35,36</sup>
- Many intervention studies have assessed high cholesterol intakes. An Institute of Medicine review of 50 clinical studies found more than half used changes in cholesterol dose of more than 500mg/day, which is far higher than average intakes.<sup>37</sup>
- The egg industry has funded many of the intervention studies and reviews. No sensitivity analyses were identified that assessed any differences between industry funded and non-industry funded research.

## EVIDENCE OVERVIEW: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RESEARCH ON EGGS AND RISK OF HEART DISEASE

The studies included in this section are all prospective cohort studies. The advantage of these types of studies is that they can look at disease outcomes, rather than risk factors, as well as the timesequence of events. However, they are unable to determine if associations with a disease outcome are due to cause and effect. They are prone to some level of measurement error and confounding from other variables. As an example, results from early studies suggesting a link between dietary cholesterol and risk of CVD<sup>38</sup> likely reflected the effect of saturated fat rather than dietary cholesterol, as most did not control for confounders.<sup>8</sup>

Two recent meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies found no evidence that an egg a day effects CHD or CVD outcomes (see

Evidence Table 1).<sup>39,40</sup> However, they did find increased risk in people with type 2 diabetes. An earlier systematic review also found that once dietary confounders were taken into account, there was no association with one or more eggs per day and risk of CHD in people without diabetes.<sup>8</sup>

A re-analysis of data from three of the studies included in these reviews (Nurses' Health study, Health Professionals Follow-Up study, NHANES data) estimated that one egg per day contributed to less than 1% of heart disease mortality.<sup>41</sup>

A third meta-analysis of cohort studies had a contradictory finding (Evidence Table 1). It concluded there was an association between egg consumption and CVD, with a 19% increased relative risk in the highest compared to lowest egg intake groups.<sup>42</sup> In comparison to the other meta-analyses, this study included case-control and cross-sectional studies, which are weaker study designs. However, excluding the one cross-sectional study on CVD only reduced the relative risk to 16%. The studies included did differ, with about half overlapping with Shin et al,<sup>39</sup> but only three studies overlapping with the analysis by Rong et al.<sup>40</sup> Seventeen percent of the weighting in the other meta-analyses. It found increased risk of heart failure with higher egg intake.<sup>43</sup> The other study on heart failure included in this review also found increased risk with seven or more eggs per week.<sup>44</sup>

Larsson et al assessed the effect on heart failure in two Swedish cohorts. Consumption of greater than 1 egg/day was associated with increased risk of heart failure in men only (a 32% increased relative risk). Risk was even higher at 2 eggs/day. Results were not altered by diabetes history.<sup>45</sup>

Berger et al conducted the most recent systematic review and metaanalysis on dietary cholesterol and CVD, including both cohort and intervention studies (which are discussed in the next section).<sup>46</sup> It included 17 cohorts and 19 trials published between 1979 and 2013 in people without existing CVD (cohort studies) and with normal lipid concentrations (intervention studies). They noted inconsistent findings between studies and generally poor methodological quality, both of which limited the ability to draw robust conclusions. Cohort studies did not identify any association between dietary cholesterol and increased risk of CVD. Due to the sparse data, a meta-analysis of cohort studies was not conducted. Few of the studies adjusted for dietary factors, and all used a single baseline assessment of diet.<sup>46</sup>

Whilst this evidence paper is looking at cardiovascular outcomes, it should be noted that a re-analysis of the Physicians' Health Study found consumption of more than six eggs per week was associated with a 23% increased risk of mortality after adjusting for confounders. Consumption of less than six eggs per week was not associated with increased risk. There was no association at any level of intake with myocardial infarction or stroke,<sup>11</sup> but there was a 28% increased risk of heart failure.<sup>44</sup> However, no dietary intake data was reported and adjustments were not made for saturated fat intake. Potential flaws in the statistical analysis have been identified.<sup>47</sup>

Although there is still need for caution, overall, epidemiological evidence suggests six to seven eggs per week does not increase heart disease risk, with the exception of type 2 diabetes and possibly heart failure. A proposed mechanism for the increased risk with type 2 diabetes is increased intestinal cholesterol absorption due to molecular and genetic changes in type 2 diabetes.<sup>48</sup>

Tran et al suggested caution in interpreting the findings from metaanalyses on type 2 diabetes because of challenges in combining the data. They were unable to conduct a meta-analysis because of variations between studies in outcome definition, measurement of exposure, assessment of diabetes status, inconsistent reporting of diabetes treatment, controlling for confounders, and follow-up time.<sup>9</sup>

## EVIDENCE OVERVIEW: INTERVENTION STUDIES ON EGGS AND RISK FACTORS

There have not been any intervention studies investigating the effect of dietary cholesterol or eggs on heart disease outcomes. Although this would provide the strongest evidence, the length, cost, and number of participants required makes it prohibitive to undertake such studies. Instead, intervention studies have assessed the impact on intermediary risk factors for heart disease such as raised lipids, inflammation, and metabolic syndrome.

#### **BLOOD CHOLESTEROL**

Weggemans et al conducted a meta-analysis of RCTs to 2001 in order to determine the effect of dietary cholesterol on the TC:HDL ratio. Eleven of these studies were metabolic ward studies where diet can be more carefully controlled. For each additional egg consumed in a day, the TC:HDL ratio was predicted to increase by 0.04 units, implying a small increased risk of MI of 2.1% (see Evidence Table 2).<sup>5</sup>

Griffin et al conducted a systematic review of randomised controlled trials of dietary cholesterol and blood lipids published between 2003 and 2013.49 Twelve studies were included in the review, seven of which controlled for background diet (in that they were told to follow a certain diet), and four of those aimed at weight loss. The authors noted a high degree of variability in background diet, subject characteristics and study design between the studies. Eggs (1-3 per day) were predominantly used as the source of dietary cholesterol. Interventions lasted from four to 12 weeks and were generally small in size. Baseline TC levels were in the range of 4.37 to 6.31mmol/L. They found only a very modest effect on cholesterol levels, which appeared to be limited to population subgroups. Where there were statistically significant increases in LDL cholesterol, this was only in sub-groups who were genetically susceptible<sup>27,28</sup> or in hyperresponders.<sup>20</sup> These sub-groups were identified in post-hoc analysis rather than pre-defined, and results should therefore be treated as tentative. However, one study did find a significant decrease in LDL cholesterol with an egg-free substitute in comparison to two eggs per day.<sup>50</sup> There were statistically significant effects on HDL in five studies, but they were small. Many studies did not assess the TC:HDL ratio. In the five studies that did there was no significant effect, except in a sub-group of hyper-responders.<sup>51</sup> There was little effect on triglycerides. No trends were identified for intakes of up to three eggs per day or length of intervention.<sup>49</sup>

A review for the US Dietary Guidelines Review in 2010 included both epidemiological and intervention studies. It found moderate evidence from epidemiological studies that related dietary cholesterol to cardiovascular disease. Consuming one egg per day was not associated with coronary heart disease or stroke in healthy adults, whereas higher intakes were. As noted earlier, this advice was not carried forward into the 2015 Guidelines.<sup>52</sup> There were three RCTs included in the US Dietary Guidelines Review not included in the review by Griffin. One reported on the same study population as an included article.<sup>28,53</sup> The remaining two were rated neutral quality and showed no statistically significant effect of egg intake on blood lipids.<sup>54,55</sup>

In the meta analysis by Berger, discussed in the previous section, intervention studies showed a statistically significant increase in total cholesterol (0.62mmol/L), LDL cholesterol (0.37mmol/L), HDL cholesterol (0.18mmol/L), and the LDL to HDL ratio (0.17), with no effect on triglycerides or VLDL in intervention compared with control groups. There was no evidence of a linear relationship between dietary cholesterol and lipids. Cholesterol intakes in the intervention group were higher than what is typically consumed, ranging from 500mg to 1400mg/day. The quality of intervention studies was rated good or fair, representing low to medium risk of bias.<sup>46</sup>

Since the above reviews, six further studies have been published focused on heart disease risk factors<sup>16,56-61</sup> three of which reported on the same study<sup>16,58,59</sup>, and five of which were funded by the egg industry (see Evidence Table 2).

Fuller et al studied people with type 2 diabetes and found no adverse effect of dietary cholesterol on lipids, in contrast to other studies in this population.<sup>56</sup> It has been cautioned not to over-interpret the results of this study, in the context of other research that has suggested increased risk in this population group.<sup>62</sup>

Papers by Blesso and Andersen reported on the same study of people with metabolic syndrome and a carbohydrate-restricted diet. A large number of measurements were made, with statistically significant findings for three eggs per day and improvements in HDL and VLDL levels, HDL composition, tumour necrosis factor and serum amyloid A.<sup>16,59</sup>

Baumgartner compared the effect of an extra egg per day with an egg in a buttermilk drink, and concluded that buttermilk modified the effect of dietary cholesterol in the egg yolk.<sup>60</sup> Daily consumption of an egg increased TC and LDL cholesterol in women only, but not HDL, TG, inflammatory markers or endothelial function. Consuming the egg with buttermilk ameliorated the increase in LDL cholesterol.

None of the individual studies or studies included in the most recent reviews specifically investigated populations at high risk or with existing heart disease. Weggemans meta-analysis from 2001 included two studies with hyperlidipaemic participants, which found opposing effects on cholesterol. There were five studies in hyperlipidaemic participants which did not meet their selection criteria, but which did not suggest any different effects to those with normal cholesterol levels.<sup>5</sup>

#### **ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION**

A crossover trial with 40 hyperlipidaemic men and women found that whilst two eggs per day for six weeks had no effect on endothelial function (measured through flow-mediated dilation), egg substitute improved it.<sup>50</sup>

#### **SUMMARY**

The overall level of evidence on eggs and blood cholesterol or risk of heart disease is inconsistent, and there are strong limitations to many of the studies. There are differences in findings between cohort and intervention studies, and a high level of industry funded research.

Whilst the evidence is not clear enough to say that there is no association between dietary cholesterol and heart disease risk, there is also not strong enough evidence to warrant continuing recommendations to limit egg intake to three per week. A prudent recommendation is a limit of six to seven eggs per week for people at increased risk of heart disease.

The weight of evidence suggests that eggs have only a very small effect on blood cholesterol levels, especially at normal levels of intake. For most people, any such increased risk is not likely to be clinically meaningful.

There has been a limited amount of research since 1999 in people with hyperlipidaemia, and epidemiological research suggests the prudent limit for them is six to seven eggs per week.

When sub-groups of hyper-responders to dietary cholesterol were identified, the increases in blood cholesterol levels were still small. Advice for hyper-responders would be best based on individual response to egg intake.

In summary, based on the available evidence, for people at risk of heart disease intake of less than six to seven eggs per week is unlikely to have any substantive influence on heart disease risk. Recommendations for the general population should remain that eggs can be included as part of a heart healthy eating pattern. The exception is people with type 2 diabetes, for whom eggs may increase risk, and possibly people with heart failure.

This review focuses specifically on eggs, however the greatest effect on reduction of heart disease risk will be from an overall heart-healthy pattern of foods. Thus, care should be taken with the company that eggs keep, that is, the combination of foods often eaten with eggs such as processed meats, white bread and/or butter. A heart healthy dietary pattern is high in vegetables and fruit, contains whole grains in place of refined grains, legumes, nuts and other sources of healthy fats such as oily fish, and can contain non-processed meats or poultry and/or dairy.

## EVIDENCE TABLE 1: META-ANALYSES OF EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES ON EGGS AND HEART DISEASE RISK

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
Shin 2013: systematic review and meta analysis of prospective cohort studies <sup>39</sup>	22 cohorts from 15 studies. Majority of studies in Western countries, with the remainder in Asia. Age range 20-90 years with an average 11.3 years of follow up.	≧1 egg/day vs <1 egg/week	CVD: HR 0.96 (95%Cl 0.88, 1.05) IHD mortality: HR 0.98 (95%Cl 0.77, 1.24) Type 2 diabetes: HR 1.42 (95%Cl 1.09, 1.86) CVD, in people with diabetes: HR 1.69 (95%Cl 1.09, 2.62)	Most studies assessed intake by self- reported questionnaire. Unable to standardise egg consumption across all studies. No significant heterogeneity and no evidence of publication bias. The female cohort from Hu et al not included for no apparent reason (no significant association with diabetes in this group). Small number of studies in diabetes.
Rong 2013: dose- response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies <sup>40</sup>	6 studies with 9 independent reports including 3,081,269 person years and 5847 incident cases of CHD. No prior diagnoses of CVD at baseline. Follow up from 8 to 20 years. Two cohorts	Increase of one egg per day	CHD: RR 0.99 (95% CI 0.85, 1.15) Diabetes sub-group: RR 1.54 (95% CI 1.14, 2.09)	Food frequency questionnaires used to assess intake in all studies (with potential for measurement error and misreporting). Some FFQs only assessed frequency and not volume. Only four studies undertook repeat dietary measures. All included studies were rated high quality. No heterogeneity identified between

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
	were Japanese and the remainder from the United States.			studies and no evidence of substantial publication bias. Only a small number of studies in people with diabetes.
Li 2013: meta-analysis of cohort, case-control and cross-sectional studies <sup>42</sup>	14 studies with 320,788 subjects, with 12 reporting risk of CVD (11 cohort studies and 1 cross- sectional study). The majority of studies were in the US. Mean age ranged from 33 to 75 years, with follow up from 6.1 years to 20 years in cohort studies.	Highest vs lowest egg intake >1 egg day vs <1 egg/week	<ul> <li>CVD: RR 1.19 (95% CI 1.02-1.38)</li> <li>Dose-response for 4 eggs/week: RR 1.06 (95% CI 1.03-1.10)</li> <li>Risk of CVD in participants with diabetes: RR 1.83 (95% CI 1.42 to 2.37)</li> <li>Risk of diabetes: RR 1.66 (95% CI 1.41 to 2.00)</li> <li>Sub-group analysis:</li> <li>Risk of CVD in cohort studies (n=11): RR 1.16 (95% CI 1.00 to 1.34)</li> <li>Risk of CVD in non-cohort studies (n=1): RR2.59 (95% CI 1.11 to 6.04) (p=0.06 for the sub-group difference)</li> </ul>	Included case control and cross-sectional studies. Sub-group analysis found higher risk in Western countries outside the US. Only two studies adjusted for saturated fat intake, and two adjusted for fibre intake. Two studies allowed self-reported outcome measures. All assessed diet with a FFQ or questionnaire. No evidence of publication bias.

## **EVIDENCE TABLE 2: INTERVENTION STUDIES ON EGGS AND HEART DISEASE RISK FACTORS**

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
McNamara 2000: pooled analysis of crossover trials published between 1960 and 1999 <sup>21</sup>	167 cholesterol feeding studies with 3,519 participants. Diverse population groups: nor- mocholesterolaemic, hypercholesterolaemic, young to elderly, men and women. Included metabolic ward studies, controlled feeding trials, and free-living trials. Background diets were low to high in total fat and low to high P:S ratios. Dietary cholesterol ranged from 100-300mg to 3-5g.	Eggs vs egg substitute	<ul> <li>Up to 1200mg/day dietary cholesterol, TC increases, but is attenuated at high levels.</li> <li>Estimated change to 100mg/day dietary cholesterol challenge:</li> <li>TC: 2.2mg/dL (95%Cl 1.9-2.5) (0.06mmol/L)</li> <li>LDL: 2.07mg/dL (95% Cl 2 to 2.73) (0.05mmol/L)</li> <li>HDL: 0.44mg/dL (95% Cl 0.34 to 0.55) (0.01mmol/L)</li> <li>HDL: 0.44mg/dL (95% Cl 2.5 to 5.3) (p=0.0002) (0.1mmol/L)</li> <li>HDL: 2.84±0.66mg/dL (p=0.02) (0.07mmol/L)</li> <li>HDL: 0.69±0.16mg/dL (p&gt;0.05) (0.02mmol/L)</li> <li>Hypo-responders:</li> <li>TC: 1.4±0.2mg/dL (95% Cl 1.0 to 1.9) (0.04mmol/L)</li> </ul>	The USDA Nutrition Evidence Library review for the 2010 US Dietary Guidelines graded this study as having strong methodological quality, and listed it as a pooled analysis. However, there is no detail in the referenced paper on review methodology or data analysis and it is not possible to determine if the review was systematic or how the data was combined and analysed. It appears to be an analysis of all studies in a database. Due to the lack of methodological data in available reports, this study was not included in the narrative of this review. Funded by the egg industry.

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
			LDL: 0.76±0.25mg/dL (0.02mmol/L) HDL: 0.50±0.14mg/dL (0.01mmol/L)	
Weggemans 2001: meta-analysis of crossover or parallel RCTs <sup>5</sup>	17 studies with 556 participants (422 men and 134 women) from United States, Europe and South Africa aged 18-75 years, mean BMI 21 to 28 an mean baseline cholesterol 4.05 to 5.92mmol/L. 11 studies were metabolic ward studies with all food included; 5 were in free-living participants	Increase of 100mg cholesterol/day	TC:HDL ratio: +0.02 units (95% CI 0.01 to 0.03) TC: +0.056mmol/L (95% CI 0.046 to 0.065) HDL: +0.008mmol/L (95% CI 0.005 to 0.01) The equivalent of one egg a day would imply an increased risk of myocardial infarction of 2.1%	The USDA Nutrition Evidence Library review for the 2010 US Dietary Guidelines graded this study as having strong methodological quality. It found that the greatest adverse effect on cholesterol was in subjects with the lowest TC:HDL ratios. Many of the studies utilised high dietary cholesterol intakes.
Fuller 2015: RCT <sup>56</sup>	12 week RCT with 140 overweight or obese participants with pre- diabetes or type 2	2 eggs/day for six days per week vs <2 eggs/week (between group difference in dietary cholesterol was	HDL, TC, LDL, TG and glycaemic control: no mean differences between groups	Small baseline differences in TC and HDL, with higher values in the egg group. Study may have been underpowered. Lipids only measured once. Weight, age and statin use not considered. <sup>62</sup> Funded

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
	diabetes	337.2mg)		by the egg industry.
Katz 2015: RCT, crossover trial <sup>57</sup>	32 adults with established coronary artery disease. Mean age 67 years, 6 women, 26 men	Three arms: Breakfast with 2 eggs vs breakfast with ½ cup egg substitute vs high- carbohydrate breakfast (control) for six weeks each with a four week washout	Flow-mediated dilation: no difference between groups TC: no difference between groups BP: no difference between groups Body weight: no difference between groups	Funded by the egg industry
Blesso 2013 <sup>16</sup> ; Andersen 2013 <sup>59</sup> ; Blesso 2013 <sup>58</sup> : single-blind RCT	37 middle-aged men and women with metabolic syndrome, and an average BMI of 30.5	3 whole eggs/day vs yolk-free substitute with both groups on a carbohydrate restricted diet (planned 25-30% energy, achieved 41%) for 12 weeks	Blesso (lipids): Statistically significant between group differences were (egg vs substitute): HDL (mg/dL): +8.6 vs +4.7 Large HDL particles (µmol/L): +1.7 vs +0.6 VLDL (nmol/L): -15.9 vs -0.3 Medium VLDL (nmol/L): -9.3 vs +4.0 No differences in insulin, HOMA-IR, triglycerides, lipid sub-fractions, or apolipoproteins Andersen (HDL composition): The egg group	Ad libitum diet; intention-to-treat analysis not used; 24% energy reduction from baseline in both groups and 4% weight loss (thus have only reported between group differences in lipids). Participants in the egg group were more insulin resistant than in the control group. A large number of biochemical measures were taken (only statistically significant results included in outcomes). Funded by the egg industry.

Study name and type	Population and dietary context	Intervention and comparator	Key outcomes	Notes
			improved some aspects of HDL composition, and this effect was more favourable in less severe metabolic syndrome <i>Blesso (inflammation)</i> : reductions in plasma tumour necrosis factor-α and serum amyloid A seen in the egg group only	
Baumgartner 2013: RCT <sup>60</sup>	Three-arm parallel intervention with 97 healthy men and women for 12 weeks	Three arms: Control (n=20) habitual intake of 1-2 eggs/week	During the intervention, mean dietary cholesterol intakes in women were 232 vs 431 vs 442mg/d and in men 275 vs 415 vs 459mg/d.	Slight increase in saturated fat intake in the egg group and decrease in the egg- drink group. The difference was statistically significant in women only.
		One extra egg/day (n=57) One extra egg yolk in 100ml buttermilk/day (n=20)	TC (+0.24±0.62mmol/L) and LDL (+0.17±0.50mmol/L) increased in women in the egg group from baseline but not HDL, TC:HDL or TG. Other lipids and markers of liver and endothelial function were unchanged.	

## REFERENCES

- 1. Mann J, Truswell S. *Essentials of Human Nutrition.* Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 1. Scientific Report of the 2015 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee.
- 3. Eckel R, Jakicic J, Ard J, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Circulation.* 2014;129(25 Suppl 2):S76-99.
- 4. University of Otago and Ministry of Health. *A Focus on Nutrition: Key findings of the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey.* Wellington: Ministry of Health;2011.
- 5. Weggemans RM, Zock PL, MB. K. Dietary cholesterol from eggs increases the ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in humans: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2001;73:885–891.
- 6. Lecerf JM, de Lorgeril M. Dietary cholesterol: from physiology to cardiovascular risk. *British Journal of Nutrition.* 2011;106:6-14.
- 7. Brownawell AM, Falk MC. Cholesterol: where science and public health policy intersect. *Nutr Rev.* 2010;68(6):355-364.
- 8. Kritchevsky SB, Kritchevsky D. Egg consumption and coronary heart disease: an epidemiologic overview. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2000;19(5 Suppl):549S-555S.
- 9. Tran NL, Barraj LM, Heilman JM, Scrafford CG. Egg consumption and cardiovascular disease among diabetic individuals: a systematic review of the literature. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes.* 2014;7:121-137.
- 10. Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, et al. A prospective study of egg consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease in men and women. *JAMA*, 1999;281(15):1387-1394.
- 11. Djousse L, JM. G. Egg consumption in relation to cardiovascular disease and mortality: the Physicians' Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2008;87(4):964-969.
- 12. Scrafford CG, Tran NL, Barraj LM, Mink PJ. Egg consumption and CHD and stroke mortality: a prospective study of US adults. *Public Health Nutr.* 2011;14(2):261-270.
- 13. Djoussé L. Relation of eggs with incident cardiovascular disease and diabetes: friends or foes? *Atherosclerosis*, 2013;229(2):507-508.
- 14. Herron KL, Vega-Lopez S, Conde K, et al. Pre-menopausal women, classified as hypo- or hyperresponders, do not alter their LDL/HDL ratio following a high dietary cholesterol challenge. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2002;21(3):250-258.
- 15. Herron KL, Vega-Lopez S, Conde K, Ramjiganesh T, Shachter NS, Fernandez ML. Men classified as hypo- or hyperresponders to dietary cholesterol feeding exhibit differences in lipoprotein metabolism. *J Nutr.* 2003;133(4):1036-1042.
- 16. Blesso CN, Andersen CJ, Barona J, Volek JS, Fernandez ML. Whole egg consumption improves lipoprotein profiles and insulin sensitivity to a greater extent than yolk-free egg substitute in individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Metabolism.* 2013;62(3):400-410.
- 17. Lee A, Griffin B. Dietary cholesterol, eggs and coronary heart disease risk in perspective. *Nutrition Bulletin.* 2006;31:21-27.
- 18. Lee A, B. G. Dietary cholesterol, eggs and coronary heart disease risk in perspective. *Nutrition Bulletin.* 2006;31:21-27.
- 19. Greene CM, Zern TL, Wood R, al. e. Maintenance of the LDL cholesterol: HDL cholesterol ratio in an elderly population given a dietary cholesterol challenge. 2005;135: 2793-98.

- 20. Ballesteros MN, Cabrera RM, Saucedo MeS, Fernandez ML. Dietary cholesterol does not increase biomarkers for chronic disease in a pediatric population from northern Mexico. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004;80(4):855-861.
- 21. McNamara DJ. The impact of egg limitations on coronary heart disease risk: do the numbers add up? *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2000;19(5 Suppl):540S-548S.
- Mutungi G, Waters D, Ratliff J, et al. Eggs distinctly modulate plasma carotenoid and lipoprotein subclasses in adult men following a carbohydrate-restricted diet. . 2010;21(261-7).
- 23. Herron KL, Lofgren IE, Sharman M, Volek JS, Fernandez ML. High intake of cholesterol results in less atherogenic low-density lipoprotein particles in men and women independent of response classification. *Metabolism.* 2004;53(6):823-830.
- 24. Spence JD, Jenkins DJA, J. D. Egg yolk consumption, smoking and carotid plaque: reply to letters to the editor by Sean Lucan and T Dylan Olver et al. *Atherosclerosis.* 2013;227(1):*189-191*.
- 25. Spence JD, Jenkins DJ, Davignon J. Dietary cholesterol and egg yolks: not for patients at risk of vascular disease. *Can J Cardiol.* 2010;26(9):e336-339.
- 26. Katan MB, Beynen, A.C., de Vries, J.H., & Nobels, A. Existence of consistent hypoand hyperresponders to dietary cholesterol in man *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 1986;123(2):221-234.
- 27. Herron KL, McGrane MM, Waters D, et al. The ABCG5 polymorphism contributes to individual responses to dietary cholesterol and carotenoids in eggs. *J Nutr.* 2006;136(5):1161-1165.
- 28. Knopp RH, Retzlaff B, Fish B, al e. Effects of insulin resistance and obesity on lipoproteins and sensitivity to egg feeding. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23:1437-1443.
- 29. Gylling H, Hallikainen M, Pihlajamäki J, et al. Insulin sensitivity regulates cholesterol metabolism to a greater extent than obesity: lessons from the METSIM Study. *J Lipid Res.* 2010;51(8):2422-2427.
- 30. Tang WH, Wang Z, Levison BS, et al. Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine and cardiovascular risk. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368(17):1575-1584.
- 31. Brown J, Hazen S. Metaorganismal nutrient metabolism as a basis of cardiovascular disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2014;25:48-53.
- 32. Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, et al. Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. *Nature*. 2011;472(7341):57-63.
- 33. Miller CA, Corbin KD, da Costa KA, et al. Effect of egg ingestion on trimethylamine-N-oxide production in humans: a randomized, controlled, dose-response study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2014;100(3):778-786.
- 34. Ussher JR, Lopaschuk GD, Arduini A. Gut microbiota metabolism of L-carnitine and cardiovascular risk. *Atherosclerosis*, 2013;231(2):456-461.
- 35. Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, et al. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature*, 2010;464(7293):1357-1361.
- 36. Rajamäki K, Lappalainen J, Oörni K, et al. Cholesterol crystals activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in human macrophages: a novel link between cholesterol metabolism and inflammation. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(7):e11765.
- 37. Institute of Medicine. *Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids.* Washington DC: National Academies Press;2005.
- 38. Stamler J, Shekelle R. Dietary cholesterol and human coronary heart disease. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 1988;112:1032-1040.

- 39. Shin JY, Xun P, Nakamura Y, He K. Egg consumption in relation to risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98(1):146-159.
- 40. Rong Y, Chen L, Zhu T, et al. Egg consumption and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *BMJ.* 2013;346:e8539.
- 41. Barraj L, Tran N, Mink P. A comparison of egg consumption with other modifiable coronary heart disease lifestyle risk factors: a relative risk apportionment study. *Risk Anal.* 2009;29(3):401-415.
- 42. Li Y, Zhou C, Zhou X, Li L. Egg consumption and risk of cardiovascular diseases and diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Atherosclerosis.* 2013;229(2):524-530.
- 43. Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Loehr LR, Rosamond WD, Folsom AR. Incident heart failure is associated with lower whole-grain intake and greater high-fat dairy and egg intake in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2008;108(11):1881-1887.
- 44. Djoussé L, Gaziano JM. Egg consumption and risk of heart failure in the Physicians' Health Study. *Circulation.* 2008;117(4):512-516.
- 45. Larsson SC, Åkesson A, Wolk A. Egg consumption and risk of heart failure, myocardial infarction, and stroke: results from 2 prospective cohorts. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition.* 2015;102(5):1007-1013.
- 46. Berger S RG, Vishwanathan R, Jacques PF, Johnson EJ. Dietary cholesterol and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition.* 2015;102:276–94.
- 47. Robert HE. Egg consumption in relation to cardiovascular disease and morality: the story gets more complex. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition.* 2008;87:799-800.
- 48. Eckel RH. Eggs and beyond: is dietary cholesterol no longer important? *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2015;102(2):235-236.
- 49. Griffin JD, Lichtenstein AH. Dietary Cholesterol and Plasma Lipoprotein Profiles: Randomized-Controlled Trials. *Curr Nutr Rep.* 2013;2(4):274-282.
- 50. Njike V, Faridi Z, Dutta S, Gonzalez-Simon AL, Katz DL. Daily egg consumption in hyperlipidemic adults--effects on endothelial function and cardiovascular risk. *Nutr J.* 2010;9:28.
- 51. Chakrabarty G, Manjunatha S, Bijlani RL, et al. The effect of ingestion of egg on the serum lipid profile of healthy young Indians. *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2004;48(3):286-292.
- 52. USDA. What is the effect of dietary cholesterol intake on risk of cardiovascular disease, including effects on intermediate markers such as serum lipid and lipoprotein levels and inflammation? (DGAC 2010). 2010.
- 53. Tannock LR, O'Brien KD, Knopp RH, et al. Cholesterol feeding increases C-reactive protein and serum amyloid A levels in lean insulin-sensitive subjects. *Circulation.* 2005;111(23):3058-3062.
- 54. Reaven GM, Abbasi F, Bernhart S, et al. Insulin resistance, dietary cholesterol, and cholesterol concentration in postmenopausal women. *Metabolism.* 2001;50(5):594-597.
- 55. Goodrow EF, Wilson TA, Houde SC, et al. Consumption of one egg per day increases serum lutein and zeaxanthin concentrations in older adults without altering serum lipid and lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations. *J Nutr.* 2006;136(10):2519-2524.
- 56. Fuller NR, Caterson ID, Sainsbury A, et al. The effect of a high-egg diet on cardiovascular risk factors in people with type 2 diabetes: the Diabetes and Egg (DIABEGG) study—a 3-mo

randomized controlled trial. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2015;101(4):705-713.

- 57. Katz DL, Gnanaraj J, Treu JA, Ma Y, Kavak Y, Njike VY. Effects of egg ingestion on endothelial function in adults with coronary artery disease: a randomized, controlled, crossover trial. *Am Heart J*, 2015;169(1):162-169.
- 58. Blesso CN, Andersen CJ, Barona J, Volk B, Volek JS, Fernandez ML. Effects of carbohydrate restriction and dietary cholesterol provided by eggs on clinical risk factors in metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Lipidol.* 2013;7(5):463-471.
- 59. Andersen CJ, Blesso CN, Lee J, et al. Egg consumption modulates HDL lipid composition and increases the cholesterol-accepting capacity of serum in metabolic syndrome. *Lipids.* 2013;48(6):557-567.
- 60. Baumgartner S, Kelly ER, van der Made S, et al. The influence of consuming an egg or an eggyolk buttermilk drink for 12 wk on serum lipids, inflammation, and liver function markers in human volunteers. *Nutrition.* 2013;29(10):1237-1244.
- 61. van der Made SM, Kelly ER, Berendschot TT, Kijlstra A, Lütjohann D, Plat J. Consuming a buttermilk drink containing lutein-enriched egg yolk daily for 1 year increased plasma lutein but did not affect serum lipid or lipoprotein concentrations in adults with early signs of agerelated macular degeneration. *J Nutr.* 2014;144(9):1370-1377.
- 62. Clifton PM. Does dietary cholesterol influence cardiovascular disease risk in people with type 2 diabetes? *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2015;101(4):691-692.